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PART I

Robert R. Brown

This autumn marks the 100th anniversary of the introduction of steam

locomotion into the Maritime Provinces; the locorotive "Samson”

was

put to work on the South Pictou Railway of Nova Scotia in December,1838.
It is appropriate then that this and the following issue of the Bulletin
should be devoted to a history of the South Pictou Railway written by

a member of the Association, Ir. Robert R. Brown.

Botween the people of Nova Scotia
and the rest of Canada there is an
irreconcilable difference of opin-
ion as to which was the first rail-
way in British North America. If we
define a railway as "a rcad or way

21id with two parallel rails over
which vehicles, with flanged wheels

are drawn", then naturally the tram-
ways at Albion Mines and Bridgeport,

both in Nova <cotia, and a mysterci-
ous wooden railway somewhere in the
present province of Quebec, take
first, second and third places.
The exact location of the latter
line is unknown and the only re-
ference to it is in the Acadian
Recorder of February 13th, 1830,
"It is suggested that, indenendent
of iron ways, a very useful kind
of wooden rail might be employed.
An experiment of this description
has been tried with success in the
woods 120 miles from Guebec',

However, if we further define a
reilway as "a line built for the
public conveyance of passengers
and eoods™ as opposed tc a short,
industrial tramway, then the Cham-
plain and St, Lawrence Railroad was
the first. In any case it was the
first to use steam locomotives,
although some writers have claimed
that the "Samson" of the Scuth
2ictou Railroad, was the first
lccomotive in what is now the
Dominion of Canada. Actually, the
"Samson", which first ran in
December 1838, was preceded by
three enzines of the Champlain and
St. Lawrence Railroad: the

"Dorchester” in June 1836, the
“Laprairie® in May 1837 and the
"Jason C, Pierce" in the summer of
1838. A railway which does not
exactly fall into either of these
categories was the enclined »nlane
built at the citadel of Quebec
about 1823, It was used by mili-
tary engineers to transport build-
ing materials to the top of Cap
Diamond.

Mowever, let us give honor where
honor is due. The General Mining
Association built and operated 6
tramways or railways in the prov-
ince of Nova Scotia; the South
Pictou Railroad, from Albion Mines
to the Leoading Ground of Pictou
harbour; the Bridgeport Tramway,
from the Brideeport pits to the
bar of Indian Bay; the Sydney
IMines Failway, from Sydney Mines
to North Syvdney; the Lingan
Colliery Railway, from Lingan to
the bar of Indian Bay; a short in-
cline plane at Joggins; and the
Victoria Ilines Railway, from Vict-
oria Mines to the South Bar of
Sydnay River. _

Coal mining in Nova Scotia com-
menced at a very early date, es-
pecially on Cape Breton Island
where the French government opnened
pits about 1672 and worked them
more or lese continuously until
about 1758, From 1758 until 1788
the niines were worked by the
British military authorities but
subsequently the mining rights wers
leased to various private opera
vOrs:



1738-1791 Thonas lloxley

1782-1800 Tremain and Stout
1801-1804 “William Campbell
1804-1813 state ojerated
1313-1818 Lgever and Ritchie
1818-1320 G. ¥W. Bowvn and J. Lever

1820-18286 G. W, Bown

In Pictou county, coal ras dis-
covered in 1798 and Dr. HMcGregor
exhibited a fire of it to the can-
didates at the election of 1799 but
.it was not until 1807, when John
iicKay, son of the sguire and usual-
ly known as the Collier, obtained
a license to dig for the inhabit-
ants and, at a later date, to ex-
port. that a serious effort was
made to mine the coal commercially.
McKay first worked a small seam, 3
Teet thick, which he found on his
father's farm but it soon became
exhausted, He searched further and
then found an outcrop of what has
since been known as the Main Seam,
These early pits were nothing more
than shallow holes in the ground
and were located on the west side
of the East River of Pictou, a
short distance above the present
Cangdian National Railways' bridee.
The coal was sold at the »it mouth,
carted to the river and sent away
in small lighters. During the
neriod of the War of 1812, a de-
mand sprang up to supply the garri-
son, the navy and inhabitants of
Halifax, but after the peace the
price fell to half its formesr rate
and, perhaps because of tHis, ilcKay
became bankrupt in 1816. From that
year until 1827 the pits were
wor“ed by various operators and the
annual production varied from 4000
to 5000 tomns,

In 1824 and 1825 the monicd men
in London began to turn their atten-
tion to mining; thriving companies
were formed and the most extra-
ordinary rage arose for the »urchase
of shares in those companies, com-
narable to the days of the South
Sea Bubble. At that time, the
granting of mining rights in the
province of Nova Scotia was con-
trollzd by the British govarnment
and, in 1825, King George IV gave
to his brother, the Duke of Kent,
and without consulting the Provin-
cial Legislature, the exclusive

right of mining in Nova Scotia for
a period of 60 years, excepting
only a few small grants already
rnade to others. This transaction
caused a great deal of dissatis-
Taction in the province at the time
but, on the other hand, it was the
means of introducing into Hova
Scotia a wealthy company when the
capital, needed to develop the pro-
vince's resources, could not have
been obtained easily otherwisc.

The Duke's rights were transferred
irmediately to Rundell, Bridge and
Rundzll, the celesbrated London
Jewellers, in payment of his debts,
and from them to the General Mining
Association, in which they werec
large sharcholdecrs. This Associatim
worked the following mining areas:

Albion Mines ....eee.0...1827-1872
Sydncy MiNeS ..ceeevceess1827-1900
Brideeport Mine ..ve4....1829-1849
Jogginsg MiNne .. .sceeasaae1846-1858
Lingan Mine ...ceeee.e...1854-1886
Victoria Mine ...ecee0...1887-1879
New Victoria Mine ...1883-1898

On January lst, 1858, after nmuch
agitation, the control of mining
was given to the Provincial Legis-
lature and the General Mining Assoc-
iations exclusive monopoly was
abolishcd. However, it was permitted
to retain, uantil the expiration of
the originz2l lease on August 25th,
1886, ccrtz2in properties which it
night sclect and after that date
21l arrangements would have to be
mrde with the Provinceial government.
Th> propertics then selacted in-
cludcd the Albion, Sydney, 2nd
Lingan mincs and undeveloped areas
at Victoria and Springhill.

South Pictou Railroad

On June 4th, 18287, Rieckard Snith,
the Association's agent, arrived at
Pictou in the brig "liargaret Pelk-
ington" with tho nccessary machincy
and implements and a staff of cngin-
ears, miners and mechanics. The
neighbourhood was carefully survey-
ed and it was found that the most
suitable place to commence operat-
ions was on the west side of the
Tast River of Pictou 2bout 800 yds.
north of the »nresent C.N.R. station
at Stellarton. Three large famms,
owned by Dr. ueGregor Viillism My
and Colin 2dcilay, 2nd the mining
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rights, originally granted to John
McKay but then held by Adam Carr,
were bought by the Association and
several vits were sunk at the south
end of the property on what had
been the McGregor farm. These
early workings, originally called
the Store Pits, were destroyed by
fire in 1839 and since then have
been known as the Burnt Mines.
Owing to the subsequent dumping of
fine coal and debris from later
mines and the building of the Nova
Scotia Railway (I.C.R.) traces of
the original pits have long since
disappeared and their exact loca-
tion is not known except that they
were a short distance east of the
car barn of the now abandoned
Pictou County Zlectric Railway. In
1839, the Bye Pit was opened, a
short distance north of the Store
Pits but fire broke out in 1861 and
it had to be flooded. Two years
later when it was »umped out it was
found that the pit props had rotted
away and the workings had settled,
SO0 since then it has been known as
the Crushed Mine.

Later, a number of »its were sunk
about 1000 y2rds west of the river
near the present Albion Mine; the
Dalhousie Pit in 1850, the Cage
Pit in 1852, and the Foster Pit in
18686, but these were all destroyed
by fire., Tiey were replaced in
1869 by the Foord Pit, which then
was considered to be the most mod-
ern mine in North Armerica. It was
near the river, immediately north
of the Bye Pit.

The Fast River was navigable up
to about the site of the present
C.N.R bridge for vessels drawing
not more than 6 feet of water, but
numerous shoals nade navigation
difficult, especially in the late
summer and autumn. For a time the
coal was carted to the river bank
but this proved to be unsatisfact-
ory so during the sumer of 1829 a
tramway was laid down from the

tore Pits to a wharf directly back
of the Lourdes cemetary. The rails
were cast iron, fish belly type, 3
feet long, setting in cast iron
chairs which were spiked to the
sleepers and it is interesting to
note that these rails were made at

Albion Mines, being the first made
in British North America and per-
haps the first in all America.

‘Then the General iMining Lssocia-
tion commenced operations in Pictou
County it was intended to wecrk the
iron deposits known to exist on the
banks of the East River. 4 blast
furnace was erected at the mines
and the ore was quarried from an
extensive hed near Springvale,
about 12 miles up the river. Actual
smelting was started in January
1829 but the demand for cast iron
was small and the cost of carting
the ore from Springvale was t00
great, so the work was given up
gradually. Chain cables of excell-
ent quality were made and, after
1835, several complete steam engin-
es were built, and the castings
produced, in combined hardness and
toighness, excelled anything then
known, )

Large vessels could not ascend
the river but were forced to anchor
at the Loading Ground, bzlow Dunbar
Point, and the coal was brought
downstream in lighters. In 183C tils
Association introduced steam navi-
gation into Nova Scotia; a small
tow-boat named the "Richard Smith"
was the first and was used to tow
the liehters up and down the river,
and two larger boats, the "Albion®
and the "Pocahontas™ ran from
Pictou to Prince Edward Island and
to the Mirimichi.

The original wharf at Lourdes was
unsatisfactory because of cshallow
water and, shortly after the intrc-
duction of the stearn tow boat, the
lins vas extended downstream about
800 yards to 2 point about midway
betw~en the present C.N.R. bridge
and the Guorge Swrout bridge in
New Glasgow. Another nove was nade,
about 18%4, to a point about 400
yar s bslow the George Street bridge
and there a large wharf with coal
chutes was erected. Below Lourdces
the tramway was built on crib work
and piling along the shore and con-
sequently all traces of it have
long since disavpeared.

It vas standard gausge,
4£'8" originally; sidings
placed about half a mile
each horse went its halfl

or verhens
vere

apart,and
mile with



loaded wagons downward and, leaving -ble iron, which set in cast iron
them on the main lins for the next chairs and were secured in place by
horse to tak2 on, roturned with iron wedgns. The country was very
empty wagons from the siding. uneven and there were scre heavy

in addition to the 2 miles of fills 2nd cuttings, 2mounting to

t;amway ﬂ}onq the river there were 400,000 cubic yards. The cuttings
about 2 miles of tracks dovn in the 2nd embeonkments were nnde with a
mines. About 50 horses were regular-slope of 1-1/2 to 1; the former

ly emgloyed on the tramway above being 18 feet wide 2t the bottonm
ground and between 50 and 60 under- snd the latter of the s2me width 2t
grounda, the top, Many of the original cut

This method of transporting the stone culverts are still in perfect
coal being slow and expensive, the condition and still in use. In the
Agssociation decidsd in 1834 to mattor of curves great caution was
build a locomotive railroad from shown ~s, cven where it entoiled
the pits to 2 wharf, near the Load- extra cutting of considerable amou
ing Ground, where the coal could be arrount, nowhere was therz 2 curve
dumped directly into the holds of of over 4 degrees radius or, in
the largest vessels, The surveys other words, the least ra2dius of
and plans for the railway were made 2ny of its curves was 1300 feet.
by Pcter Crerar, who is worthy of Another remarkable feature was the

recognition as one of Canada's unusutl uniformity of the grade for
pioncer railway builders. He was 2 road passing through such 2n un-
born in 1785 at Breadalbane, Scot- even country; the greater part of
land, and came to Nova Scotia in the line w2s perfectly level 2ad

1317 and died there in 1857. Appar- the fow slight gradicnts were with
ently he was 3 man of unusuz2l in- the loadzd trains. It started from
telligence; at first he taught the pits with 2 f2lling grnde of 1
school 2and then he became 2 govern- in 437 for 2 distance of 1167 yards
ment land surveyor 2nd Cormission»r then practically level for 6257 yds

c¢f Crown Lends, in which latter then 2 slight incline of 1 in 578
capacity he 1laid out severzl of for 833 yards, succeceded by 2 level
what are now the main roads of picce for 1937 yards 2nd then =2
Pictou County. Crerar had never down grade of 1 in 360 for 500 yds.

seg¢n a railway and, when his plans which terminated 2t the wharf at
and profiles were sent to the Board Dunbar Point. During the existence
of Directors in England, they were of this terminal 2t Dunbar Point it
aceompanied by 2 rmquest that an —1s known ns South Pictou 4nd gave
experienced eneineer be sent out to the rnilway its name. In modern
supervise the construction of the times it has bren called the Albion
railwvay. The plans were submitted  Kines Rnilway but the correct name
to one of the forcmost engincers of was South Pictou Railroad. The
the day and on his recommicndation total lcngth of the line was 10,694
the directors wrote to their Agent yards or 6.1 miles. It wns intecnded
in Nova Scotia, "What nced is there to oxtend the rond 2bout 2 miles to
of our sending you 2n ensineer when Absrcrombic Point but the proposed
you have Mr. Crerar in the country? extconsion was never built. The
Let him supervise the construction.” wharf ~t South Pictou was 1600 feet
The building of the railway start-long, 24 fret wide 2nd commanded 2
ed in the spring of 1836 2nd 2s it £all of 17 fect 2bove high water at
was on 2 higher level 2nd further the chutes,
away from the rivar bank than the There were cmployed on the con-
old tramway, the latter continued struction of the railway 262 ltbor-
in use until the conpletion of the <crs ~nd drivers, 20 m2sons, 3 black-
new locomotive railway. The old smiths, 11 ecarpenters 2nd 102 horscs
c1s¢ iron raiis were not strong ~nd the total cost up to March lst
snough to support the weight of 1839 was & 31,300. The total cost
locomotives so the new li.e wuas on complstion was about £ 40,000,
2id with bull head rails of malle- A part of the line, near the minc.

A A o



was completed in the autumn of 1838
and shortly afterwards three loco-
motives were received from England.
One of them, the "Samson", was set
up and tried out in Deccember of
that year but they were not in re-
gular use until the following
summer. George Davidson, who came
out from Zcgland to set them up,
was the first engine driver and
later became llechanical Superinten-
dent; David Floyd was the first
Tireman and Patrick Kerwin was the
Tirst brakeman. The brakemen had

& very difficult and dangerous job
as the brakes consisted only of
short lengths of chain, attached to
the frames of the wagons, with
hooks at the ends of the chains
which were hooked on to the spokes
of the wheels. As this operation
usually had to be done while the
cars were in motion, many a finger
was clipped off. The first pass-
enger was Ferwin's little daughter
liargaret; just before the start of
the trial trip, the brakeman
snatched up his little girl, say-
ing "Magmie shallhave the first
ride to make her remembered in the
land"®

The official opening of the rail-
way, which took place on Scutember
19th 1839, was an event that was
long reiiernibered. The steamboats
4lbion and Pocahontas, with lighters
in tow brought about 2000 people
from Pictou to N~ Glasgow, whence
they were taken by train to the
mines in coal wagons which were
temporarily fitted up to carry pass-
engers. This was followed by a par-
ade to Naw Glasgow and on returning
to the mines, a great feast awaited
the guests and employees of the

ssoclation. 4 large brick oven had
been erected, large enough to hcld
the carcass of an ox, which was
stulffed like a turkey and roasted
whole. Men kept turning it constant
ly &and barrels of melted butter werm
used for basting. In addition,
110C pounds of beef and mutton and
corresvcnding quantities of other
food were used,

A small »assenger coach was built
t0 handle the small passenger traf-
fic and, because one of the first
passengers carried in it was the

3

bride of the governor of the pro-
vince, it became known as the
"Bride's Ccach”. From that event
apparently arcse the local tradi-
tion that if a young girl would sit
in the coach perfectly still and
without speaking for twenty minutes
she would be married within a year
but of course a girl who could do
that would be such a rare jewel
that she would have no difficulty
in finding a husband anyway. The
coach itself was but a square box
nounted on four wheels and had one
compartment of the contemporary
English type; it is reported to '
have been ":nlegantly" decorated in-
cide and out but nevertheless it
cbviously was nothing more than a
crude makeshift. It was purchased
by the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad
ebout 1892 and is still in the
possession of that company.

~ In 1050 the first of the "back
mines™ ::as opened and a branch line
vas built from the junction at
Lourdes back to the Dalhousie ?Pig,
a distance of about one mile. Later
on in 1880 this branch was extendead
to the Albion Mine. )

The monopoly of the Guneral Min-
ing Association was abolished in
1856 but it was permitted to retain
two, square miles in Pictou County,
on which the existing workings weire
locatad. However, these including
the Scnth Pietou Railroad were sold
in 1872 to the Hualifax Coal Cc.,of
which Sir Gzorge Elliott was presi-
dent. This company opened the
Alvioa Mines in 1880, after the
struction of the Fuord Pit, agd ﬂp
branch of ‘the railway to the "bzeis
mines™ us gxtended about half a
mile to this new mine.

I: 1885 the Azgadia Coul Ceo.,
which had been onerating a mine at
Tastville since 1864, acquired the
proverties of the Halifax Cozl Co.
and also the Vale Coal Co., which
onerated a mine at Thorburn about
6 milns east of Stellartcn. The
Acadia Co. had built 2 railway
from 7Testvi.le to Stellarton,
miles, in 1867 2nd another from i
t2rminus of the Intercolonial Rai.-
way a2t Picton Landing to the
Acadina Company's lozding pier 2t
iloodis Toint, about 1 mile beyoni,
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V/ale Company h2ad built a
in 1872 from Thorburn to
520w,
2ding pier 2t Moodic Point
¢ modern thon the one at
2ictou so, after about 1885,
cnl from 2ll of the mines .
rted by the Acndia Company was
ipped from ioodis Point or wes
d
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from Lourdes to the "back minas,
and from Lourdes down to George ut
where there is 2 large coal pocket
from which loeal deliveries are
xmade,
on Cave Breton Island
TP, Breton coal field was
worked in 2 small w2y 1s early -2s
1672 and in 1687 several expoeri-
meﬂt”l shipments ware sent to
France, The French government
opened up sever2l pits in 1720 <%
Port Morien 2nd 2 little later -t
Glace Bay, Sydney IMines 2nd Little
Bras d'Or, =2nd because of the un-
settled times they werzs fortiried
with blockhouses, prlisndes 2nd

trenches. Onec of these enrly French
mines, the Blockhouse pit 2t Port

Morien, wns worked from 1720 until
1888. 1In these exrly workings the
corl was taken from small holes in
the grou
in the cliffs; most of the coal so
mined wns used 2t Louisburg, where
firewood wns scarece 2nd exp ensive,
but considernble shipments were
sent to France and to the New Tng-
1land colonies.

The Genertl Mining Associaticn
purchnsed 2bout 1827 the mining
rights held by G. 7. Bown and com-
menced opcrations first at Sydney
Mines about 1827 and 2t Bridgoport
in 1829 .

The Bridegcsport Tramway

The mine %
south side of
in 1829 2nd a horse-op~2rated tram-
Wiy 20out 2 miles long wnas built

nd or quarried from outcrops

Jld Bridenport on the
Indian Bay was opencd

rom the mine, dovn = foirly stecp

hill to the shore of the bay an
then across tha s~nd b2r to the gap

~t Lingan on the north side where =
sm21ll harbonr was made. The nine
and the tromyay werce abandoned in
1849 2nd, cxceovt nerhaps for some
2ncient piling <t the harbour, it
is doubtful if any traces of the
tramvey romain,
Syvdney Mines Railway

This line is consider2bly older
th2n is generally supposed 2nd its
completion was advertised in the
Nova Scotian on September 17th 1836:
"The line of Railway 2t the Sydney
M1nos, having bacn conmpletcd from
the Pits direct to the North Bar,

, near Stellarton, to Lairdes;vessels can now load in all kinds

of weather, without any rish of
being det2ined as heretofore - the
wharf being situ2ted within the bar,
is effectivaly protected from sca
swell and the depth of water along-
side is sufficiont for vessels of
the largest class - mooring buoys
are placed at suitable distances
fra: the wharf for the convenience
of vessels, and there are berths
Tor thrce vessels to lo2d 2t one
time. The coal is brought direct
from the pit to the wharf, a dis-
tance of 2-3/4 miles by rnllwny and
is discharged from the wagons dir-
ectly into the hatchways of the
vessels. 500 tons can be shipned
in one day, 2nd the co~2l being
passcd ovar screens into the wagoas
is delivered to the vessels free of
slack. Vessels can 1land their bal-
last 2nd take in their eqargos at
the s2me wharf,
S. Cun~rd."”
S~amuel Cunard, the founder of the
Cunard Line of stemships wns then
Agent of the General Ilining Assoc-
i“tion and S, Cunz2rd 2nd Company,
retail conl merchants in Halifax,
T.'-.'hluh he founded 2t that t.l.mu, :LS
still in vbusinecss.
The railway was in the naturc of
2 hump with the suwmit about half-
way; the horscs ware trained to
haul the lo2ded veons from the mins
to the summit, then jumn into A
"dandy" car 2nd the train was
"dillied" or coasted down to the
pi=T.

To Be Cencluded
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Lisy 18th: The special
evening was Mr, E.S.H.
nger Car Lighting
_ anadian Pacific Railway,
who spoke on "Thne Railways of Ire-
land". His talk, which consisted
largely of reminiscences of his
youth, was illustrated with nunerous
locomotive photographs and mans
from his private collection. The
members discussed surmer exgursion
plens and decided to visit the
Central Vermont shops in St.Albans,
Vt., on Sunday, June 5th and on,
or abcut, Sunday, June 26th, to go
to Cantic, Que. to inspect the S.S.
"Vermont",
acted as chairman of meeting.
ieeting of June 8th: After sone
discussion, the members decided
upon certvain changes in the Assoc-
iation's policy in regard to motor-
car excursicns, first, that hence-
forth such excursions would be for
nembers or persons accompanied by
members only; second, that expenses
would be shared equally by driver
and passengers. Plans for a motor-
C&r eXxcursion to inspect the hull
of the S.S, "Vermont" on the first
Sunday in July and for a railway
excursion to inspect the shops of
the Quebec Central Railway at Sher-
brooke one sunday in Auesust were
discussed.
Revorts of Excursions
St. Albans Zxcursion of June 5th:
nleven members of the Association
and two guests in four automubiles
took part in a 150-mile trip to St.
Albans, Vt., to inspect the shops
of the Central Vermont Railway,
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Mr. Terroux, a Director,

The party travelled via Ifarieville,
St. Aneele, Farnham, Bedford,
Frelighsburg, Que. and Znosburg
Falls, V§, From 2.320 to 4.00 and
under the guidance of General
ilarager Carson and Mechanical Eng-
ineer Hamm, the members thoroughly
inspected the roundhouse, loco-
no*ive repair shop, foundry and
car erecting shop. On the return
Journey stops were made at Swanton
to examine the terminus of the

St. Johnsbury and Lake Champlain
Railway and on the King Zdward
Highway near Laprairie to see the
Association's commemorative plague
t0 the Champlain and St. Lawrence
Railroad.

S.S."Vermont" Excursion of July 3:
A party of nine members and three
guests in a caravan of four cars
drove to the western shore of the
Richelieu River near Zantic, gue.,
in order to examine the hull of tie
5.8."Vermont™, The party, accom-
panied by two amateur divers,chose
a camvsite near the Willis Home-
stead. There they were joined by
Hr. D.L.Loomis, General Ilanager,
L.ke George Steamboat Co. and by
Mr, Beauchemin and another dredging
engineer of the Department of Pub-
lic Works. With the help of the
engineers the wreck was socn locat-
ed and with the help of the divers
three ribs or pieces of ribs were
dislodged and brought to the sur-
face., One was donated to lMr.Loomis
and is now in the Fleming Museun
of the University of Vermont, one
to iir. Beauchemin and one remazins
in the possession of the Associa-
tion,

"The Montresal Gazette" of July 4
carried a full account of this
excursion. In the correspondence
columns of the same paper during
the following weeks Dr.W.A.L.Styles
of Montreal took violent exception
to certain of the Associatim's
statenments,




